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ROBERT PATRICK STICHT (SBN 138536)
Law Offices of Robert Patrick Sticht

P.O. Box 49457

Los Angeles, CA 90049

Telephone:  (310) 889-1950
Facsimile: (310) 889-1864
Email: LORPS@verizon.net

STERLING E. NORRIS (SBN 040993)
JUDICIAL WATCH, INC.

2540 Huntington Drive, Suite 201

San Marino, CA 91108

Telephone:  (626) 287-4540
Facsimile: (626) 237-2003
Email: jw-West@judicialwatch.org

Attorneys for Defendant,
Robert L. Rosebrock
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintift,
V.

ROBERT L. ROSEBROCK,

Defendant.

TO ALL INTERESTED PARTIES:

CVB Nos. 4920201, 4920202,
6593951, 6593729 / CC11

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO
DISMISS MEMORIAL DAY 2016
AMERICAN FLAG CHARGE;
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITIES

Hearing Date: March 7, 2017
Hearing Time: 8:30 am.
Courtroom 341 (Roybal)
Hon. Steve Kim

a3d

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Tuesday, March 7, 2017, at 8:30 a.m., or as soon thereafter as

counsel may be heard, before Honorable Steve Kim, United States Magistrate Judge, in courtroom 341

of the Roybal Federal Building and U.S. Courthouse, located at 255 E. Temple St., Los Angeles, CA,

defendant ROBERT L. ROSEBROCK, by his attorneys, Robert Patrick Sticht and Sterling E. Norris,

will move, and does hereby move, under Rule 12(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, and
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pursuant to, inter alia, the First Amendment of thé United States Constitution, for an Order dismissing
the Memorial Day, May 30, 2016 “displaying placards or posting materials” charge against him.

This motion is based upon the accompanying memorandum of points and authorities, the files
and records in this case, and any oral argument and evidence that the Court may allow.

Dated: February 24,2017 Respectfully submitted,

JUDICIAL, WATCH, INC.
LAW OFFICES OF ROBERT PATRICK STICHT
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ROBERT PATRICK STICHT

Attorneys for Defendant
Robert L. Rosebrock
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
L INTRODUCTION

Mr. Rosebrock has been charged with taking photographs on Memorial Day, May 30, 2016,
within the Veterans Administration Facility located at 11301 Wilshire Boulevard in Los Angeles,
California (“VA Facility”) in violation of 38 C.F.R. § 1.218(a)(10), and on the same day “displaying
placards or posting materials” by affixing two small (4” x 6””) American Flags to the exterior fence of
the VA Facility without authorization in violation of 38 C.F.R. § 1.218(a)(9). See Exhibit A (United
States District Court Violation Notice, Number 4920201 and Number 4920202); see also Government
Trial Memorandum (“Gov Trial Memo”), filed November 30, 2016 at 2. Mr. Rosebrock has been
further charged with recording video on June 12, 2016, with a Sony camcorder within the VA Facility in
violation of 38 C.F.R. § 1.218(a)(10). See Exhibit B (United States District Court Violation Notice
Number 6593951); Government Trial Memo at 3.

II. BACKGROUND

As stated, Mr. Rosebrock is charged with “posting” two 4 by 6 inch American Flags on the fence
of the VA Facility. The fence is part of the “Great Lawn Gate” entrance to the Los Angeles National
Veterans Park, a public park at the northeast corner of Wilshire and San Vincente in the Brentwood area
of Los Angeles. In front of the “Great Lawn Gate” is a public, semicircular plaza that abuts a public
sidewalk.

VA Police Officer Ralph Garcia’s statement of probable cause recites that Mr. Rosebrock
“affixed” the two small Flags to the fence at or near the “Great Lawn Gate™ with thin, easily removable
plastic ties. See Exhibit A. On Memorial Day 2016, Mr. Rosebrock took part in a rally he, fellow
veterans, and other supporters have held nearly every Sunday and Memorial Day since March 9, 2008,
to show their support for veterans and protest what they believe is the VA’s failure to make full use of
the valuable West Los Angeles property to benefit and care for veterans, particularly homeless veterans.

The area beyond the “Great Lawn Gate” is open to the public and is used for a variety of public
and commercial purposes. In addition to Los Angeles National Veterans Park, the property includes the
Veterans Home of West Los Angeles, Veteran Golf Course, a stadium for the UCLA baseball team,

athletic facilities for the Brentwood School, laundry facilities for a nearby Marriott hotel, the Brentwood
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Theatre, soccer practice and match fields for a private girls’ soccer club, a dog park, a farmer’s market,
and at least three largely vacant buildings. It does not include the VA Greater Los Angeles Health Care
Center, which is on a separate parcel on the opposite side of Wilshire Boulevard. Any notion that the
area beyond the “Great Lawn Gate” is a private, sheltered place for veterans to heal is incorrect. It is an
active, busy place. Earlier this year, the City of Los Angeles announced an agreement with the Veterans
Administration that allows construction to cut through the area during a construction project at the
nearby Brentwood School, “sparing the rest [of the neighborhood] the impact of construction traffic on
Sunset Boulevard and other local streets.”

When Mr. Rosebrock began holding his rallies at the “Great Lawn Gate” in 2008, the VA police
initially told him there was an exception to Section 1.218(a)(9) for the American Flag and POW/MIA
flags. See generally Robert Rosebrock v. Donna Beiter et al., Case No. 10-¢v-01878-SJO, Central
District of California. Accordingly, Mr. Rosebrock and his fellow supporters hung as many as 30 full-
size America Flags on the fence at once, without incident. Id. When Mr. Rosebrock began hanging the
American Flag “union side down” — a recognized signal of urgent distress — on or about June 2009, the
VA ordered him to either hang the American Flag “union side up” or remove it. Id. It was only when
Rosenbrock refused to hang the American Flag “union side down” that the VA police began to cite him
for allegedly violating Section 1.218(a)(9). Id. The charges were dropped, however, and Mr. Rosebrock
discontinued hanging the American Flag “union side down.” In 2010, Mr. Rosebrock sued the VA for
viewpoint discrimination — advising him he could hang the American Flag, but citing him when he when
he hung the American Flag “union side down.” Id. The lawsuit was declared moot in 2011, when VA
represented that it would begin enforcing an interpretation of Section 1.218(a)(9) that did not allow the
posting of any flags on the fence. Since that time, Mr. Rosebrock has continued to hang the American
Flag “union side up.” He has been cited on at least 14 occasions since October 25, 2015, for
purportedly violating Section 1.218(a)(9), but not precisely or consistently. Until the Memorial Day
2016 citations, the charges have always been dropped.

When conservative activist Ted Hayes was accused of hanging a large American F lag on the VA
fence on June 12, 2016, Mr. Hayes, a regular participant at Mr. Rosebrock’s Sunday rallies, was

detained and handcuffed, but not cited. Mr. Rosebrock was detained, cuffed, and cited, however,
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allegedly for unauthorized photography. See Exhibit B.
IMl. ARGUMENT

The regulation in question states:

The distributing of materials such as pamphlets, handbills, and/or flyers, and the
displaying of placards or posting of materials on bulletin boards or elsewhere on property
is prohibited, except as authorized by the head of the facility or designee or when such
distributions or displays are conducted as part of authorized Government activities.

38 C.F.R. § 1.218(a)(9).

As an initial matter, Section 1.218(a)(9) does not reference the posting of flags expressly, and
reading the regulation to criminalize posting of the American Flag raises the legal issue of constitutional
vagueness. “Vagueness may invalidate a criminal law for either of two independent reasons. First, it
may fail to provide the kind of notice that will enable ordinary people to understand what conduct it
prohibits; second, it may authorize and even encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.” City
of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 56 (1999); see also United States v. Osinger, 753 F.3d 939, 945
(9th Cir. 2014). A third grounds for unconstitutional vagueness also exists — “to avoid any chilling
effect on the exercise of First Amendment freedoms.” Osinger, 753 F.3d at 945. “For statutes involving
criminal sanctions, the requirement for clarity is enhanced.” Id. at 946.

The “vagueness” doctrine is rooted in the Due Process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. Papachristou v. Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156, 162 (1972). Tt is not
limited to laws regulating speech, but applies with special exactitude where a law may impinge on First
Amendment Freedoms. See Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 109 (1972).

Section 1.218(a)(9) is unconstitutionally vague because its use of the term “materials” is
ambiguous. The regulation’s first clause prohibits the “distributing of materials,” which are expressly
identified as including “pamphlets, handbills, and/or flyers.” All three are written or printed materials.
None is the American Flag. The regulation then refers to “placards,” which, again, typically describes
written or printed materials such as signs, notices, or posters. The American Flag plainly is not a
placard. The regulation’s final clause repeats the word “materials” ~ “the posting of materials on
bulletin boards or elsewhere on property is prohibited.” Typically, repetition of a word in a statute

signals that the word is intended to have the same meaning as the earlier ﬁsage. See, e.g., Mohasco
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Corp. v. Silver, 447 U.S. 807, 826 (1980) (applying “presumption of consistent usage™). In the case of
Section 1.218(a)(9), the second iteration of the word “materials” should be read to refer to the same type
of written or printed materials expressly used to describe the first iteration: written or printed materials
such as “pamphlets, handbills, and/or flyers” or even “placards.” It should not be read to refer to the
American Flag. The corollary makes this even clearer: the regulation plainly does not prohibit the
distribution of American Flags. The VA itself appears to have been confused about the proper reading
of the word “materials” in Section 1.218(a)(9), as it initially told Mr. Rosebrock that he could post both
the American Flag and the POW/MIA Flag on the fence during his rallies. It was only after Mr.
Rosebrock displayed the American Flag “union side down” and filed suit for viewpoint discrimination
that the VA began to read the regulation’s use of the word “materials” to prohibit posting of the
American Flag. The VA’s entirely opposite readings of the regulation only confirm its vagueness.

In addition, it goes without saying that the American Flag holds a very special place of honor in
the United States. An entire chapter in United States Code — the Flag Code — is devoted to the American
Flag. See 4 U.S.C. §§ 1-10. An official day of commemoration — Flag Day — has been set aside by an
Act of Congress to honor the anniversary of its adoption on June 14, 1777. See 36 U.S.C. § 110. The
General Services Administration issues very specific guidelines — the “Flag Policy” — on flying the
American Flag. The American Flag is not some non-descript “material” comparable to a generic
pamphlet, handbill, flyer, or placard. If a law, rule, or regulation is intended to criminalize posting of
the American Flag, then it should say so expressly. Absent such a clear expression of intent, no law,
rule, or regulation should be read to criminalize the American Flag’s display. To the extent use of the
word “materials” in Section 1.218(a)(9) refers to or was intended to refer to the American Flag, the
regulation is unconstitutionally vague because it fails to provide sufficient notice that posting the
American Flag on VA property is prohibited, authorizes and even encourages arbitrary and
discriminatory enforcement, and chills First Amendment freedoms.

Mr. Rosebrock does not concede that the fence at the “Great Lawn Gate” is not a public or a
limited public forum. See United States v. Grace, 461 U.S. 171, 177 (1983). “Public places” historically
associated with the free exercise of expressive activities, such as streets, sidewalks, and parks, are

considered, without more, to be “public forums.” Id. The plaza where Mr. Rosebrock holds his rallies
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abuts a public sidewalk at a busy intersection. The plaza itself is virtually indistinguishable from the
public sidewalk, and the “Great Lawn Gate,” which abuts the plaza, serves as the entrance to a public
park. Accordingly, the sidewalk, plaza, and park are all public fora. /d. By advising Mr. Rosebrock that
he could post the American Flag and POW/MIA flags on the fence, then allowing him to do so on
numerous occasions and only objecting when he posted the American Flag “union side down,” the VA
effectively opened up the fence to expressive activity, making it at least a limited purpose forum. See
Perry Education Assn. v. Perry Local Educators’ Assn., 460 U.S. 37, 45 (1983). In either case, the
government’s ability to permissibly restrict expressive conduct is very limited. Grace, 461 U.S. at 177
(for public fora and limited public fora, “the government may enforce reasonable time, place, and
manner regulations as long as the restrictions ‘are content-neutral, are narrowly tailored to serve a
significant government interest, and leave open ample alternative channels of communication’’)
(quoting Perry Education Assn. 460 U.S. at 45)).

Even assuming that the fence at the “Great Lawn Gate” is a nonpublic forum, any restrictions on
expressive conduct must be reasonable “in light of the purpose of the forum and all the surrounding
circumstances.” Cornelius v. NAACP Legal Def- & Educ. Fund, 473 U.S. 788, 809 (1985); Preminger v.
Peake, 552 F.3d 757, 765-66 (9th Cir. 2008). “The VA must proffer more than a rational basis for the
restriction; the restriction must reasonably fulfill ‘a legitimate need.’” Preminger, 552 F.3d at 765-66
(quoting Sammartano v. First Judicial Dist. Court, 303 F.3d 959, 967 (9th Cir. 2001)). The restriction
need not constitute the least restrictive alternative available. Id. at 766.

The VA has yet to proffer any rational basis or legitimate need for its restriction on the
expressive conduct at issue here — affixing two, easily removable 4 by 6 inch American Flags on the
fence at the “Great Lawn Gate” on Memorial Day 2016. There is no suggestion that, by affixing the two
small American Flags to the fence with thin, plastic ties, Mr. Rosebrock allegedly obstructed the
sidewalk, the plaza, the “Great Lawn Gate,” or the Los Angeles Veterans National Park in any way. See
Grace, 461 U.S. at 182. There also is no suggestion that, by posting these two small American Flags on
the fence, Mr. Rosenbrock allegedly obstructed access to or interfered with the orderly administration of
the Veterans Home or any other VA building or facility, or the golf course, baseball stadium, school

athletic facilities, soccer fields, dog park, farmers’ market, commercial laundry facilities or theatre. /d.
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There also is no suggestion or allegation that his two small American Flags injured or threatened injury
to any person or even bothered or disturbed anyone. Id. No VA property was damaged or harmed in any
way or ¢ven threatened with damage or harm. Id. Under the circumstances, Mr. Rosebrock’s alleged
posting of the two small American Flags on the VA fence on Memorial Day 2016 was protected against
the instant charges by the First Amendment.
III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should dismiss the American Flag charge on Memorial Day

May 30, 2016.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Robert Patrick Sticht, declare:

I am a citizen of the United States and resident or employed in the County of Los Angeles,
California. My business address is Law Offices of Robert Patrick Sticht, P.O. Box 49457, Los Angeles,
CA 90049. T am over the age of eighteen years. I am not a party to the above-entitled action.

I manually filed (or caused to be manually filed) the foregoing NOTICE OF MOTION AND
MOTION TO DISMISS MEMORIAL DAY 2016 AMERICAN FLAG CHARGE; MEMORANDUM
OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES with the Clerk of the Court for the United States District Court for

the Central District of California. I caused a copy of the same document to be placed in a sealed

. envelope and served by U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, in the ordinary course of business, and/or hand-

delivered, upon the following persons:

Robert L. Rosebrock, 575 S. Barrington Ave., #410, Los Angeles, CA 90049;

Sharon McCaslin and Adam Schleifer, Assistant United States Attorneys, 1300 U.S. Courthouse,
312 North Spring Street, Los Angeles, CA 90012.

Executed on February 24, 2017 at Los Angeles, California,

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

ROBERT PATRICK STICHT
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" United States District Court Violation Notice # 4920201
Statement of Probable Cause

. - (For issuance of an arrest warrant Or summons)
1 state that on May 30, 2016 while exercising my duties as a law enforcement officer in the Central District of
California

On Mauy 30, 2016, at epproximately 1210 bours, L Relph Garein, was on duty and in fufl uniform sesigned to bicycle patio) checking the Great Lavn gate
and speaking with visitors snd Veterans in the ares, While checking the great lnwn gate ¥ cbserved Robert Rosebrock on the great lwwn teking photogrephe}
pullest op next to Rosebrock wha § believe didn't recopnize me at the timre. Roschrock was taking photographs of flags which be later admitted to postiag on
the fence a5 well as the grounds of the property, Tt wid a1 this tivae [ verhally identified myself to Roscbrock as VA Polios. Rosthrock was advised the taking
of photagraphs on YA property without authorlzatien for media use is not anthorized. Based on Rogebrocks past articles, 1 know the photos would be veed
for media purposes (ses attached article), Understanding this, § asked Rosebrock what he wes going to do with the photoaraphs. Rosebrock stated, “Put
thertt o1 @ website and plaster you guys &l aver the net with news storles an yon. }t's called freedom of the presst” 1 advised Rosebrock if ke continued to
take photographs he wonld be cited ax he did not bave authorization, Rosebrock began statlug he fntends to take photos For his media blog once pgain and -
stated its freedom of the press a second Hime. He further explained that he will continoe to take photos and videos to destroy VA Officers sad the VA on his
media website. 1 explained to Rossbrock he wonld be clted it the photogeaphs continue, Rosebrock put his camcra away anrd was told to sit on the wall of the
fence while T continoed 1o investignte, Rosebrock sinted, “The grass is & mess, there’s trath everywhere and you have done nothing ¢o keep It clegnt How
dare you let it lonk like this! You need to cleam it up right now!™ I explained 1o Rosebrock I was a Federal Law Enforcement Officer for the US

of Veterans Affairs and ag such my duties do wot Inelude doing EMS duties or grounds. | advised bim ¥ since it was brought to our sttention I woold ool
grovnds. He became upset stating, *Why caxt you do something now Gke stop barassing me and go pick ap trash!” I explained that cleaning trash on the
Boor i not one of my job deties and again explained { wonld contact growmds efiar speeking with him. 1 explained another suggestion which was if he
wranted to volunteer his fime to clean it up the VA and the Veterans would be very appreciative of his efforts, but Rosebrock declired? 1 observed (2) US
Flags affixed to the fence aying plastic sip tise. I asked Rasehirock the following:

{Garcin) (Q) Are these fags yonrs?

{Raosebrock) (A) Yes!

{Ciarcia) (Q) Did you place them o the fesice?

(Rosebrock) (A) Yes [ did nbont 20 minutes ago, T am not deafing with you, you have it oat for me, you slways kavel Jost Jike thanksgiving your MeDamnlds
protégé! I'm leaving ynu man't stop me! ‘ '

1 ndwined Rosebrock he vwag not free to leave amd wes currently detuined for unanthorized photography s well as displaying items on the fence, Rosebrock
stated apnin he was leaving, | stepped in froat of Rostbroek and stated, “Sir, if you attenipt 1o wall away { will take you physicsily inta costody, place you in
hendeaffs, and charge you with resisting end delaying ander Californis Penal Code 148, You will be hooked into Los Angeles County Jzil and yon will face
ihe local district attorney to answer for the charge. The choice is now yours t0 make. I have explained the circumstances yonr fachig and the consequence for
yonr actions, Cooperste and stoy as told or be arrested.” Rosebrock stated, “Fine, 1 will stay!” Roscbrock sat on the wall while [ asked additional questionsy
(Garein) (Q) Why did yon pat the flags ot the fence?

(Rosebrock) (A) Because o and { s dnoing this to foree you guis to cite me,

(Garcin) (Q) Why axe you duing that?

(Rasebrock} (A} Because you guys are Jerks, you hurassed me yesterday and you'te urussing me today!? You lost i coort. They threw out all your citations
because they ses this ag harassment. So [ will keep posting Rags on the fence regardless of whatever you guys say becamse I don't care. So arrest me for it.
(Garcin) (Q) The president ordered ftngs to be ot hatf-stall, { notlced.nedther of those ire at half-staif first and secand you da underetand they sre oot affixed
to & proper pole to be flown in that mammer? So now you are not flying flags correcily, not at balftatl, aed yon don't bave permission to affix them on the
fente in that manner.

(Rosebrock) (A) Well I am not taking them down you can elte me.

[ asked Rosebrock to hanid me his ficense. After vecelving the license, Sgt. Jood Henderson arrived on scene, Rosehrock took oot his camera and stated, “f am
inking 3 picture af thisT" ) again instrwcted Rocebrock if be took 8 photograph he would be cited for the offense. Rusebrock stated, “Go ahead! They will
drop it becasse they don’t bave time to dea] with me!” Rosebrock began taking photographs. T adeised Rosebrock he would now be receiving a citation for
wnasthorized photography and if he continued, his eamera would be conflscated for nse as evidence in conrt. Rosebrock began stating he was only planning
on taking piciures of trash on VA property and wis outraged that there was tresh on the ground. T explalned to Rosebrock be was going to rective o citation
for 38 CFR L218(A) (9) Displaying Piacards or posting Materints on Property Without Authorizatton and an additions) citation tor 38 CFR 1.218{A) (10)
taking photograpls withont permission. Sergeant Henderson veroved the flags and [ confiseated them. T then ivsued Rosebrock 2 United States District
Court Viglation Notiee (14920202) for @ violatlon of 38 CFR 1218 (A) (9) displaying placards, materiaks, on hulletin buards or elsewhere, except as
authorized and (R4920201) for viclating 38 CFR L18(A) (10} taking photographs withont permission. Rosebrock refused o sign the citation’s bul was
tapded both cepies stating kis refosal and the time be refused ench. Rosebrock was then ordered to depart since he bad no official business ather than
impeding officers by viokuting the law. | departed the axen. 1 booked the two flags and 3 phistic zip thes imto evidence. An svidence form 3524 was completed
along with form 3524(s) Teg #l. Lt Arreygoe and 1 booked it into tesnporary evidenes lockes 6‘,!7 » with no farther incident. Case closed, '

The foregoing statement is based upon:

A0  my personal observation 0 my personal investigation
[0  information supplied to me from my fellow officer’s observation
[0 other (explain above) '

T declare under penalty of perjury that the information which I have set forth above and on the

face of this violation notice is true and correct to th my knowledge.
Executed on: 0 g/ca_of QD 'b |
Date (mm/dd/yyyy) Officer’s Signature

Probable Cause has been stated for the issuance of a warrant.

Executed on:

Date (mm/dd/yyyy) U.S. Magistrate Judge
T Page1of1



United States District Court Violation Notice # 4920201
Statement of Probable Cause
(For issuance of an arrest warrant or summons)

I state that on May 30, 2016 while exercising my duties as a law enforcement officer in the Central
District of California

On May 30, 2016, at approximately 1210 hours, I, Ralph Garcia, was on duty and in full uniform assigned
to bicycle patrol checking the Great Lawn gate and speaking with visitors and Veterans in the area. While
checking the great lawn gate I observed Robert Rosebrock on the great lawn taking photographs. I pulled
up next to Rosebrock who I believe didn't recognize me at the time. Rosebrock was taking photographs of
flags which he later admitted to posting on fence as well as the grounds of the property. It was at this time
I verbally identified myself to Rosebrock as VA Police. Rosebrock was advised the taking of
photographs on VA property without authorization for media use is not authorized. Based on Rosebrock’s
past articles, I know the photos would be used for media purposes (see attached article). Understanding
this, I asked Rosebrock what he was going to do with the photographs. Rosebrock stated, "Put them on a
website and plaster you guys all over the net with news stories on you. It’s called freedom of tbe press!" 1
advised Rosebrock if he continued to take pbotographs he would be cited as he did not have authorization.
Rosebrock began stating he intends to take photos for his media blog once again and stated its [sic]
freedom of the press a second time. He further explained that he will continue to take photos and videos
to destroy VA Officers and the VA on his media website. I explained to Rosebrock he would be cited if
the photographs continue. Rosebrock put his camera away and was told to sit on the wall of the fence
while I continue to investigate. Rosebrock stated, "The grass is a mess, there’s trash everywhere and you
have done nothing to keep it clean! How dare you let it look like this! You need to clean it up right now!”
I explained to Rosebrock I was a Federal Law Enforcement Officer for the US Department of Veterans
Affairs and as such my duties do not include doing EMS duties or grounds. I advised him since it was
brought to our attention I would call grounds. He became upset stating, “Why cant [sic] you do something
now like stop harassing me and go pick up trash!” I explained that cleaning trash on the floor is not one of
my duties and again explained I would contact grounds after speaking with him. I explained another
suggestion which was if he wanted to volunteer his time to clean it up the VA and the Veterans would be
very appreciative of his efforts, but Rosebrock declined! I observed (2) US flags affixed to the fence using
plastic zip ties. I asked Rosebrock the following:

(Garcia) (Q) Are these flags yours?

(Rosebrock) (A) Yes!

(Garcia) (Q) Did you place them on the fence?

(Rosebrock) (A) Yes I did about 20 minutes ago. I am not dealing with you, you have it out for me, you
always have! Just like thanksgiving your McDonalds protege. I'm leaving you can’t stop me!

I advised Rosebrock he was not free to leave and was currently detained for unauthorized photography as
well as displaying items on the fence. Rosebrock stated again he was leaving. I stepped in front of
Rosebrock and stated, "Sir, if you attempt to walk away I will take you physically into custody, place you
in handcuffs, and charge you with resisting and delaying under California Penal Code 148. You will be
booked into Los Angeles County Jail and you will face the local district attorney to answer for the charge.
The choice is now yours to make. I have explained the circumstances your [sic] facing and the
consequence for your actions. Cooperate and stay as told or be arrested.” Rosebrock stated, "Fine, I will
stay!" Rosebrock sat on the wall while I asked additional questions;

(Garcia) (Q) Why did you put tbe flags on the fence?

(Rosebrock) (A) Because I can and I am doing this to force you guys to cite me.

(Garcia) (Q) Why are you doing that?

(Rosebrock) (A) Because you guys are jerks, you harassed me yesterday and you’re harassing me today!



You lost in court. They threw out all your citations because they see this as harassment. So I will keep
posting flags on the fence regardless of whatever you guys say because I don’t care. So arrest me for it.
(Garcia) (Q) The president ordered flags to be at half staff, I noticed neither of those are at half-staff first
and second you do understand they are not affixed to a proper pole to be flown in that manner? So now
you are not flying flags correctly, not at half-staff, and you don’t have permission to affix them on the
fence in that manner.

(Rosebrock) (A) Well I am not taking them down you can cite me.

1 asked Rosebrock to hand me his license. After receiving the license, Sgt. Joel Henderson arrived on
scene. Rosebrock took out his camera and stated, “T am taking a picture of this!” I again instructed
Rosebrock if he took a photograph he would be cited for the offense. Rosebrock stated, "Go ahead! They
will drop it because they don’t have time to deal with me!” Rosebrock began taking photographs. I
advised Rosebrock he would now be receiving a citation for unauthorized photography and if he
continued, his camera would be confiscated and used as evidence in court. Rosebrock began stating he
was only planning on taking pictures of trash on VA property and was outraged that there was trash on
the ground. I explained to Rosebrock he was going to receive a citation for 38 CFR 1.218(A)(9)
Displaying Placards or posting Materials on Property Without Authorization and an additional citation for
38 CFR 1.218(A)(10) taking photographs without permission, Sergeant Henderson removed the flags and
I confiscated them. I then issued Rosebrock a United States District Court Violation Notice (#4920202)
for a violation of 38 CFR 1.218(A)(9) displaying placards, materials, on bulletin boards or elsewhere,
except as authorized and (#4920201) for violating 38 CFR 1.218(A)(10) taking photographs without
permission. Rosebrock refused to sign the citation's [sic] but was handed both copies stating his refusal
and the time he refused each. Rosebrock was then ordered to depart since he had no official business
other than impeding officers by violating the law. I departed the area. I booked the two flags and 3 plastic
zip ties into evidence. An evidence form 3524 was completed along with form 3524(a) Tag #1. Lt.
Arreygue and I booked it into temporary evidence locker #17 with no further incident. Case closed.

The foregoing statement is based upon:
[X] my personal observation

1 declare under penalty of perjury that the information which I have set forth above and on the face of this
violation notice is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Executed on:___05/30/2016 /s/ Ralph Garcia
Date (mm/dd/yyyy) Officer’s Signature

Probable cause has been stated for the issuance of a warrant.

Executed on:

Date (mm/dd/yyyy) U.S. Magistrate Judge
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* United States District Court Violation Notice # 4920202
Statement of Probable Cause

o (Por issuance of an arrest warrant or sumrmons)
I state that on May 30, 2016 while exercising my duties as a law enforcement officer in the Central District of
California

On My 30, 2014, at approximately 1210 houss, I, Ralph Garcia, was on duty and in full pniform assigued to bieycle patrol checldng the Great Lawn gate
and speaking with visitors and Yelerans i the areaWhile checking the great lawn gatz [ cboerved Robert Resebrock on the great krwn taking photographs.(
palled up next to Rosebrock whto T belleve didn’t recognive me at the time, Rozehrock was taking photopraplrs of flags which he tater admitted to posting on
the fence a3 well 9 the grounds of the property. 1t was at this time 1 verbolly identified myself fo Rosshrock as YA Police. Rasehrock was advised the taking
of phatographs on VA property without anthorizxtion for media nse is not asthotkzed. Based on Rosebrecks past articles, I kaow the photos would be used
for maedia pirposes (see attached article), Understonding this, T asked Rosehrock what he was poing to do with the photopraphs. Rosebrock stated, “Pat
thewy on 4 website aod plaster you guys all over the net with news stories on yon, It’s caled freedom of the prese!™ [ advised Rosebrock if he contifmed to
take photographs he woald be cited as he did ot bave anthorization. Rosebrock began stating be intends to take photos for his medin blog once agein and
siated its freedom of the press o sceond time. He further expluined that he will contigne to take photos and videos to destroy VA Officers and the VA on his
raedla website. [ explained to Rosebrock he would be cited if the photographs continoe. Rosebroek put bis esnera awny and was told to sit on the wall of the
fente whilc  continued to investipate, Rosshrock stated, “The grass is a mess, there’s trash everywhere and yoo huve dane nothing to keep It ¢lean! How
dare you ket it Jook Iike this! You need to dlean it up right now!* | explained to Rosehrock I was a Federad Law Exforcement Qfficer for the US Department
of Yeierans Affairs and ny sech my duties do not indude doing EMS duties or groonds. I advised him T eines It was hrought to our attention I would cafl
grounds, He became apset stating, “Why cant yon do something now like stop harasing me and go pick op teesh!” [ explained that cleaniog trash on the
floor is uot one of my job duties and again explained 1 woold contact grounds after speaking with him_ [ explained another suggestion which was if he
wanted to volunicer his time to clean it up the VA and the Veterans wonld he very apprediative of Iis efforts, but Rosebrsck decfined! Tobserved (2) US
Flags affixed to the fence using plastic zip ties. ¥ asked Rogebrack the following: .
{Garcla) ((f} Are these flags yours?
{Rosebrock) (A) Yes? .
{Garcia) () Did you place them on the fence? . .
(Resebrock) (A) Yes 1 did abont 20 minutes ago. §-am not dealing with yon, you have it cut for me, you always have! Just like thankspiving your McDanalds
pratégé! I'm lezving you can't stop me!
1 odvised Rosebrock he wes not fres! to leave and was covrently detalned for umauthorlxed photography as well as displaying items on the fence. Rosebrock
stated again he was leaving, 1 stepped in front of Resthrock and stated, “Str, if yon atterpt to walk swary 1 wilt teke you physically Into custody, place yog in
handeutts, and chargs yon witk resisting and delaying under California Penat Code 148, You will be hooked into Los Angeles Caunty Jail and yon will Fare
the local district nttorney to answer for the charge. The chaice is now yours to make. | have explained the circomstances your facing and the conseguence for
your actions, Cooperate and stay a3 told or be areested” Rosehrock stuted, “Fine, I will stay!” Roscbrock sat on the wall while [ 2sked edditional questions;
(Garcia) (Q) Why did yon put the fingz on the fence?
(Rosebrock) (A) Because | can and ] am dofng this to force you guys to cite me.
{Garcia) (Q) Why are you doing that? .
(Rosebrock) (A) Becaws you guys are jerks, yon harassed me yesterday and you’re harassiny me today! Yoo lost in conrt, They threw out all yoar ditetions
because they see this as harassment. So 1 will keep posting flags on the fence regardiess of whetcver you guys sny beciuse T don’t care. So arvest me for it,
{Garcin) (Q) The president ordered flags $o be at-half-staff, 1 noticsd neither of thoge sre-at half-staff flvst-and second you o understand they sre not wffixed
::nt‘mp&poh to be flown in that mannér? $o now you are not fMying flags correctly, not at halk-staff, and you don't have permission to affix them on the
n mAanner. ’
{Rosebrock) (A) Well | am not taking them down yon can citeme. . .
1 asked Roschrock to harid me his license, After receiving the license, Sgt. Joel Henderson arrived on seene. Rosebrock took out his camern and stated, *{ sm
taking a picture of thisl” { again ingtructed Rosebrock If he took a photagraph he wowld be cited for the offense. Rosebrock stated, “Go shead! They will
drop it because they den't have lime to deal with me!” Rosebrock began taldng photdgraphs, | advised Rosebrock he would now be receiving a chiation for
unantherized phatography end if he eontinned, ks camera would be confiscated for wse ns svidence in tourt. Rosebrock hegan statinig be was only plannisg
on taking pictures of tragh on YA property and was outraged that there was trash on the ground. | explained to Rosebrock he was going to receive a citation
for 38 CFR 1.218(A) (9) Displnying Platards or posting Materials on Property Withert Authorization and sz additional citafion for 38 CFR 1.218(A3 (10)
taking photographs without permission. Sergeant Henderson remaved the flags and 1 confiscated them, | then issued Rosshrock n United States District
Coort Violstion Notice (#4920202) for a viclation of 33 CFR 1218 (A) (9} displaying placards, materials, or bulletin boards or elsowhere, except as
authorized and (W$920201) for viclating 38 CFR 1.21€(A) (10) taking photographs without permisshon. Rosebrock refumed to sign the citation's bat was
handed hoth copies stating his refusal and the time ke refused each. Rosebrock was then ordered to depart since he had ao officint business other than
impeding officers by viokating the law, 1 departed the area, I bookad the two flugs and 3 plastic 23p fies into evidence, An evidence form 3524 was complated
elomg with farm-3524(a) Tag #1. Lt. Arreygue and [ booked it into temporary evidence laelmr#q » with go further incident. Case closed,

The foregoing Statement is based upon:

W my personal observation O  my personal investigation
0O  information supplied to me from my fellow officer’s observation
0  other (explain above)

I declare under penalty of perjury that the information which I have set forth above and on the

face of this violation notice is true and correct to the bz of my knowledge.
Executed on; OS /50[ @L‘Q ‘

Date (mun/dd/fyyyy) - Officér’s Signature

Probable Cause has been stated for the issuance of a warrant,

Executed on: _

Date (mm/dd/yyyy) - - U.S. Magistrate Judge
_ Page 1 of1




United States District Court Violation Notice # 4920202
Statement of Probable Cause
(For issuance of an arrest warrant or swmmons)

I state that on May 30, 2016 while exercising my duties as a law enforcement officer in the Central
District of California

On May 30, 2016, at approximately 1210 hours, I, Ralph Garcia, was on duty and in full uniform assigned
to bicycle patrol checking the Great Lawn gate and speaking with visitors and Veterans in the area. While
checking the great lawn gate I observed Robert Rosebrock on the great lawn taking photographs. I pulled
up next to Rosebrock who I believe didn't recognize me at the time. Rosebrock was taking photographs of
flags which he later admitted to posting on fence as well as the grounds of the property. It was at this time
T verbally identified myself to Rosebrock as VA Police. Rosebrock was advised the taking of
photographs on VA property without authorization for media use is not authorized. Based on Rosebrock’s
past articles, I know the photos would be used for media purposes (see attached article). Understanding
this, I asked Rosebrock what he was going to do with the photographs. Rosebrock stated, "Put them on a
website and plaster you guys all over the net with news stories on you. It’s called freedom of tbe press!" I
advised Rosebrock if he continued to take pbotographs he would be cited as he did not have authorization.
Rosebrock began stating he intends to take photos for his media blog once again and stated its [sic]
freedom of the press a second time. He further explained that he will continue to take photos and videos
to destroy VA Officers and the VA on his media website. I explained to Rosebrock he would be cited if
the photographs continue. Rosebrock put his camera away and was told to sit on the wall of the fence
while I continue to investigate. Rosebrock stated, "The grass is a mess, there’s trash everywhere and you
have done nothing to keep it clean! How dare you let it look like this! You need to clean it up right now!”
I explained to Rosebrock I was a Federal Law Enforcement Officer for the US Department of Veterans
Affairs and as such my duties do not include doing EMS duties or grounds. 1 advised him since it was
brought to our attention I would call grounds. He became upset stating, “Why cant [sic] you do something
now like stop harassing me and go pick up trash!” I explained that cleaning trash on the floor is not one of
my duties and again explained I would contact grounds after speaking with him. 1 explained another
suggestion which was if he wanted to volunteer his time to clean it up the VA and the Veterans would be
very appreciative of his efforts, but Rosebrock declined! I observed (2) US flags affixed to the fence using
plastic zip ties. I asked Rosebrock the following:

(Garcia) (Q) Are these flags yours?

(Rosebrock) (A) Yes!

(Garcia) (Q) Did you place them on the fence?

(Rosebrock) (A) Yes 1 did about 20 minutes ago. I am not dealing with you, you have it out for me, you
always have! Just like thanksgiving your McDonalds protege. I'm leaving you can’t stop me!

I'advised Rosebrock he was not free to leave and was currently detained for unauthorized photography as
well as displaying items on the fence. Rosebrock stated again he was leaving. I stepped in front of
Rosebrock and stated, "Sir, if you attempt to walk away I will take you physically into custody, place you
in handcuffs, and charge you with resisting and delaying under California Penal Code 148. You will be
booked into Los Angeles County Jail and you will face the local district attorney to answer for the charge.
The choice is now yours to make. I have explained the circumstances your [sic] facing and the
consequence for your actions. Cooperate and stay as told or be arrested.” Rosebrock stated, "Fine, I will
stay!" Rosebrock sat on the wall while I asked additional questions;

(Garcia) (Q) Why did you put tbe flags on the fence?

(Rosebrock) (A) Because I can and I am doing this to force you guys to cite me.

(Garcia) (Q) Why are you doing that?

(Rosebrock) (A) Because you guys are jerks, you harassed me yesterday and you’re harassing me today!



You lost in court. They threw out all your citations because they see this as harassment. So I will keep
posting flags on the fence regardless of whatever you guys say because I don’t care. So arrest me for it.
(Garcia) (Q) The president ordered flags to be at half staff, I noticed neither of those are at half-staff first
and second you do understand they are not affixed to a proper pole to be flown in that manner? So now
you are not flying flags correctly, not at half-staff, and you don’t have permission to affix them on the
fence in that manner.

(Rosebrock) (A) Well [ am not taking them down you can cite me.

1 asked Rosebrock to hand me his license. After receiving the license, Sgt. Joel Henderson atrived on
scene. Rosebrock took out his camera and stated, “T am taking a picture of this!” I again instructed
Rosebrock if he took a photograph he would be cited for the offense. Rosebrock stated, "Go ahead! They
will drop it because they don’t have time to deal with me!” Rosebrock began taking photographs. I
advised Rosebrock he would now be receiving a citation for unauthorized photography and if he
continued, his camera would be confiscated and used as evidence in court. Rosebrock began stating he
was only planning on taking pictures of trash on VA property and was outraged that there was trash on
the ground. I explained to Rosebrock he was going to receive a citation for 38 CFR 1.218(A)(9)
Displaying Placards or posting Materials on Property Without Authorization and an additional citation for
38 CFR 1.218(A)(10) taking photographs without permission. Sergeant Henderson removed the flags and
I confiscated them. I then issued Rosebrock a United States District Court Violation Notice (#4920202)
for a violation of 38 CFR 1.218(A)(9) displaying placards, materials, on bulletin boards or elsewhere,
except as authorized and (#4920201) for violating 38 CFR 1.218(A)(10) taking photographs without
permission. Rosebrock refused to sign the citation's [sic] but was handed both copies stating his refusal
and the time he refused each. Rosebrock was then ordered to depart since he had no official business
other than impeding officers by violating the law. I departed the area. I booked the two flags and 3 plastic
zip ties into evidence. An evidence form 3524 was completed along with form 3524(a) Tag #1. Lt.
Arreygue and I booked it into temporary evidence locker #17 with no further incident. Case closed.

The foregoing statement is based upon:
[X] my personal observation

I declare under penalty of perjury that the information which I have set forth above and on the face of this
violation notice is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Executed on:___05/30/2016 /s/ Ralph Garcia
Date (mm/dd/yyyy) Officer’s Signature

Probable cause has been stated for the issuance of a warrant.

Executed on:

Date (mm/dd/yyyy) U.S. Magistrate Judge
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